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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

for the  
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x 
JOHN BIRD,       
       Civil Action No. 2:10-cv-1091 (DMC) 
   Plaintiff, 
vs.        
       AMENDED COMPLAINT 
MOORE STEPHENS, P.C.,      
      

Defendant.   Jury Trial Demanded 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x    
 
 Plaintiff John Bird, by his attorneys, Hutner Klarish LLP, for his Complaint 

(“Complaint”) herein respectfully alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 
 

1. This is a case in which the defendant's fraudulent misconduct resulted in damages for 

Plaintiff John Bird (hereinafter “Plaintiff”). This action seeks redress for that misconduct. 

2. In 2008, defendant Moore Stephens, P.C. (hereinafter “Defendant” or “MSPC”) was 

engaged to audit the financial statements of China Sky One Medical, Inc. (“CSKI”), a public-

traded corporation operating and doing business in the People’s Republic of China (hereinafter 

“China”). According to its Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2008 (the “2008 10-

K”), filed on April 15, 2009 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), CSKI, 

through its subsidiaries, is engaged in the “development, manufacture, marketing and sale of 

over-the-counter, branded nutritional supplements and over-the-counter plant and herb based 

pharmaceutical and medicinal products” in China and elsewhere.  
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3. In the course of its engagement as CSKI’s auditors, MSPC audited CSKI’s financial 

statements for the year ending December 31, 2008 (hereinafter the “2008 CSKI Financial 

Statements”). Following the completion of its audit, it certified the 2008 CSKI Financial 

Statements and with respect thereto issued an “unqualified” or “clean” opinion, in effect 

reporting that the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements contained in the 2008 10-K were materially 

accurate. However, the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements were inaccurate in several material 

respects as discussed below. 

4. It is unclear at this time whether MSPC knew that the 2008 CSKI Financial 

Statements were materially false and misleading at the time it issued its unqualified opinion. 

However, what is clear is that in August 2009 and at one or more times in 2010, MSPC became 

aware of the fact that the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements were materially false and misleading 

and that its unqualified opinion with respect to them was baseless. Despite becoming aware of 

these problems, and despite having a duty to correct the information that it knew to be false 

which had been disseminated into the market via the 2008 10-K, MSPC failed to issue corrected 

statements or withdraw its support from the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements for 2008.   

5. As a result of the material errors in the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements, the market 

value of CSKI has been inflated artificially and remains artificially inflated still because MSPC 

has failed to acknowledge the errors in the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements. As described below, 

MSPC’s failure to disclose that the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements are materially inaccurate 

and that its unqualified opinion with respect thereto is no longer accurate or valid resulted in 

Plaintiff incurring significant monetary damages. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

6. Plaintiff John Bird is an individual who resides in the State of Texas.  
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7. Defendant MSPC is a New Jersey corporation having offices in the State of New 

Jersey. MSPC is registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the 

“PCAOB”) and is therefore bound to observe and follow auditing standards defined by rules 

adopted by the PCAOB. 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this dispute pursuant to Section 27 of the Securities 

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, in that the action arises 

under the Constitution, laws or treaties of the United States. 

9. This Court also has jurisdiction over this dispute pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332, as the 

parties are citizens of different states and the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive 

of interest and costs. 

10. Venue is proper in this District, pursuant to Section 27 of the Securities Exchange 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because a substantial part of the events 

giving rise to the claim occurred in this District, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b)(1), 

because Defendant conducts business within this District and resides here. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS 

CSKI 

11. CSKI is a Nevada corporation formed on February 7, 1986, and was formerly known 

as Comet Technologies, Inc. It is a publicly-traded company whose common stock trades on the 

NASDAQ under the symbol CSKI. Through its wholly owned subsidiaries, CSKI is involved in 

the development, manufacture, marketing and sale of over-the-counter, external use Traditional 

Chinese Herbal Remedies and Medicines. These products are sold primarily in China. The major 

ingredients of its products consist of “herbs, roots and plants.”  
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12. CSKI sells a variety of “testing kits” for which, according to CSKI, it has obtained 

patents including: 

a. The “Cardiac Arrest Early Examination Kit” which is “patented in PRC” for which 

CSKI supposedly received a design patent registered March 16, 2004, which 

supposedly allows early diagnosis of myocardial infarction based on the analysis 

of samples of urine and blood; 

b. The “Urinate Micro Albumin Examination Testing Kit” which is supposedly 

“patented in PRC” and is supposedly “used in connection with early stage 

diagnosis for primary kidney disease, hypertension and diabetes”; 

c. The “Early Pregnancy Test Kit” which is supposedly “patented in PRC” and is 

supposedly used to determine pregnancy through a urine sample; 

d. “Endothelin-1” for which CSKI “has obtained an invention patent in China” 

registered October 4, 2006, and which is supposedly “a new anti-cancer medicine”;  

e. The “Sumei Slim Patch” which supposedly fosters weight loss and for which CSKI 

claims it has received an Arts and Crafts Patent registered in 2001; 

f. The “Human Urinary Albumin Elisa Kit” for which CSKI claims it received an 

Arts and Crafts Patent registered August 24, 2004; and 

g. The “Suning Cough Removing Patch” for which CSKI claims to have received an 

Arts and Crafts Patent initially registered December 4, 2001. 

13. CSKI claims in the 2008 10-K that it regards “patents and similar intellectual 

property (“IP”) as critical to our business” and that it obtained a “Package box design patent” for 

all Traditional Chinese Medicine products which was registered on December 4, 2001.  
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14. CSKI also asserts in the 2008 10-K that it owns the above-described patents, which it 

reported to be worth $1,933,014 on December 31, 2007, but which were reportedly worth 

$15,851,765 one year later on December 31, 2008, according to the 2008 CSKI Financial 

Statements.  

15. Plaintiff is and has at all times relevant hereto been a “short seller” of shares of 

common stock of CSKI (hereinafter the “CSKI Stock”), meaning that he has sold shares of CSKI 

Stock that he borrowed from a broker, expecting subsequently to replace them with other shares 

of CSKI purchased at a later time and at a lower cost when CSKI Stock becomes more 

accurately valued. 

The Audited Financial Statements and  
the Discovery of Material Misstatements Therein 

16. On April 15, 2009, approximately eleven months after CSKI engaged Defendant to 

serve as CSKI’s auditor, CSKI filed with the SEC the 2008 10-K, which included the 2008 CSKI 

Financial Statements audited by Defendant. 

17. With respect to the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements, Defendant provided the 

following opinion: 

In our opinion, the consolidated CSKI Financial Statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of China Sky One 
Medical, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008, and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with United 
States generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
18. The foregoing opinion in essence provides an affirmative representation that the 2008 

CSKI Financial Statements accurately depicted the financial position of CSKI. This opinion 

provides strong assurance that not only could CSKI’s management rely on the accuracy of the 

2008 CSKI Financial Statements and accompanying unqualified auditor’s opinion, but so could 
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any other recipient of the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements who wished to rely upon them to 

determine, for example, whether and on what terms to take a position in CSKI shares. 

19. In issuing its unqualified opinion regarding the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements, 

MSPC also represented that it had “conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards 

generally accepted in the United States,” standards that “require that we plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement.” 

20. After April 15, 2009, Plaintiff began to research CSKI, and in that regard began to 

investigate the accuracy of the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements. From that process he discovered 

that the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements materially misrepresented the financial position of 

CSKI. Specifically, he became aware of the following misstatements and/or inaccuracies:  

a. The 2008 CSKI Financial Statements reported that CSKI or its subsidiaries owned 
seven patents in China supposedly worth $15,093,718, when in fact it did not own 
any patents. As a result of this material misstatement, the assets of CSKI were 
substantially overstated in the 2008 10-K. 

b. The 2008 CSKI Financial Statements reported that CSKI and its subsidiaries had 
total revenues in the amount of $91,816,183 in 2008, when in fact total sales were 
far less than that amount. 

c. The 2008 CSKI Financial Statements reported the cost of goods sold in 2008 as 
$22,403,303, whereas CSKI and its subsidiaries had to have paid far less than that 
amount because purchases at that level would be inconsistent with the volume of 
goods that were actually sold. 

d.  The 2008 CSKI Financial Statements reported a “provision” for taxes owed to 
China of $7,616,169 for 2008 when in fact the taxes paid to China were far less 
than that amount because the income reported to China and the actual taxes owed 
for income were in fact much less than reported in the 2008 CSKI Financial 
Statements. 

e. The 2008 CSKI Financial Statements and the reports filed with the SEC are 
materially inconsistent with the corresponding documents filed by CSKI’s 
wholly-owned subsidiaries with the State Administration for Industry and 
Commerce in China. MSPC has not reported or explained these inconsistencies. 
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f. Upon information and belief, because the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements 
reported revenues, earnings and taxes that were all far larger than the actual 
financial results of the operations of CSKI and its subsidiaries, CSKI was forced 
to balance its fictitious revenues with equally fictitious expenditures.  For 
example, in order to inflate the value reported for the non-existent patents from 
$1,599,814 as reported in CSKI’s 2007 10-K to $15,093,718  as reported in 
CSKI’s 2008 10-K, CSKI had to book expenses equal to the difference between 
the values in 2007 and 2008, but those expenses, like the revenues that would 
have funded them, were non-existent.  Similarly when CSKI reported the 
acquisition of Heilongjiang Tianlong Pharmaceutical, Inc., it failed to disclose 
that the stock was acquired from affiliates of CSKI and that the total amount of 
the purchase price as reported was not an expense actually incurred by CSKI or 
any of its subsidiaries.   

21. Moreover, according to the 2008 10-K, CSKI owns all of the stock of ACPG, a 

California corporation that is now in suspension for failing to pay any franchise taxes to the state 

of California since 2007.   According to the 2008 10-K, ACPG in turn owns all of the companies 

through which CSKI does business, not only in China, but globally.  The 2008 CSKI Financial 

Statements in the 2008 10-K are consolidated in that the debts of subsidiaries of CSKI, including 

the debt of ACPG to the State of California, are included in the total indebtedness of CSKI. 

However, upon information and belief, the franchise tax debt to the State of California was not 

reported in the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements, and the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements give 

no indication of the default in payment, nor do they discuss any of the consequences of the 

failure by CSKI’s subsidiary to pay its franchise taxes.  

22. Plaintiff realized that the dissemination to the public of MSPC’s unqualified opinion, 

and the materially false financial statements which it had audited, had misled stock market 

investors, resulting in an overinflated stock price. Plaintiff also realized that the $15,093,718 

overstatement of CSKI's patent assets was likely to affect other important figures in the 2008 

CSKI Financial Statements, such as the proper statement of its income and/or profits, thereby 

necessitating restatement of other components of the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements. 
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23. Based on the foregoing, the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements were not prepared by 

Defendant in accordance with the applicable elements of GAAP as they existed in 2009 when 

Defendant audited CSKI, including but not limited to FAS 142 (“Goodwill and Other Intangible 

Assets”). 

24. Moreover, in conducting its audit of CSKI during which it failed to detect the 

material errors in the financial statements, MSPC had deviated materially from “auditing 

standards generally accepted in the United States,” that is, the standards approved and adopted 

by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”), including but not limited 

to Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (“GAAS”) and Statements on Auditing Standards 

(codified as AU sections) which are recognized by the AICPA as the Institute’s interpretations of 

GAAS, including but not limited to the standards set forth in AU Section 150 (“Generally 

Accepted Auditing Standards”), AU Section 230 (“Due Professional Care in the Performance of 

Work”) and AU Section 314 (“Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the 

Risks of Material Misstatement”).  

25. As a result of widespread reliance by the market on the accuracy of the false and 

misleading 2008 CSKI Financial Statements, and Defendant’s unqualified opinion with respect 

thereto, the value of shares of CSKI stock became inflated, and remains so to this day.  

26. Between June 16, 2009 and November 30, 2009, and after conducting his research as 

described above, Plaintiff established a substantial short position in CSKI Stock. His expectation 

was that the market would soon realize that CSKI’s stock price was overvalued, and thereafter 

would decline once the corrected information was disseminated into the market. 

27. In August 2009, Plaintiff submitted information to MSPC which indicated that the 

2008 CSKI Financial Statements were materially false and inaccurate and that the unqualified 
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opinion issued by MSPC with respect thereto had to be corrected and/or withdrawn. Upon 

information and belief, Defendant took no action in response to this information. Specifically, 

Defendant failed to withdraw its opinion or make any public announcement relating to the 2008 

CSKI Financial Statements and the opinion which it issued relating thereto. 

28. MSPC’s failure to correct its prior disclosures was a principal reason for the CSKI 

stock price remaining artificially high and overvalued. 

29. Plaintiff made further efforts to prompt Defendant to take action. Specifically, he 

engaged a Chinese patent law firm, Unitalen Attorneys At Law, to conduct an investigation into 

the truthfulness of the assertions in the audited financial statements regarding patents held by 

CSKI. After examining the applicable Chinese government records, and completing its 

investigation, the Unitalen firm issued a report (hereinafter the “Unitalen Report,” a copy of 

which is attached hereto as Exhibit A). In that report, dated February 10, 2010, the Chinese 

lawyers in effect concluded that CSKI and its subsidiary companies did not own the patents 

referred to in the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements. In effect, the Unitalen Report confirmed 

Plaintiff’s prior research that CSKI’s claims to the patents that lie at the heart of its strategy for 

protection of its intellectual property rights are fictional. 

30. Promptly upon receipt of the Unitalen Report, Plaintiff informed MSPC of the 

Unitalen Report and its findings and asked MSPC to revise its unqualified opinion. To date, 

MSPC has not responded to this request, either privately to Plaintiff, or publicly, nor did 

Defendant take any action as of March 2, 2010, the date of the initial Complaint in this case, to 

inform the public of its flawed opinion or of the fact that the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements are 

materially false and misleading. 

Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 9 of 20



-10- 

31. After the original complaint in this case was filed, CSKI filed its Form 10-K for 2009 

with the SEC.  This 10-K acknowledged that CSKI did not own the patents described in the 10-K 

for 2008.  In fact, in the Form 10-K for 2009 filed by CSKI, CSKI acknowledged for the first 

time that its claims to ownership of the seven patents were false and it purported to 

recharacterize these assets as “licenses.”  

32. MSPC signed off on the 2009 10-K, while maintaining its support for the previous 

10-K which by then it knew was materially false.  By refusing to acknowledge that it had given a 

clean audit opinion on financial statements that attributed multi-million dollar values to bogus 

claims of intellectual property rights, MSPC continued to prop up the value of CSKI Stock.      

33. MSPC in 2009 again provided the same unqualified opinion, stating that the financial 

statements in the 2009 10-K “presented fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of” 

CSKI.  MSPC did then and still does fully support its unqualified opinion that CSKI’s mutually 

inconsistent financial statements in both 10-K’s are truthful in all material respects. Therefore, 

MSPC appears to take the inconsistent opinions (in 2008 and 2009) that CSKI does and does not 

own the seven patents that lie at the heart of its intellectual property rights.  

34. Because Plaintiff held a short position in CSKI Stock, and because the price of CSKI 

stock rose and remained at an elevated price in part as a result of the market’s reliance on the 

purported truthfulness and accuracy of the false information in the 2008 10-K including the 2008 

CSKI Financial Statements audited by MSPC, Plaintiff was forced to cover part of his short 

position by buying-in CSKI shares in a series of transactions, principally between November 27, 

2009 and December 28, 2009. These transactions resulted in losses totaling $89,108, based on a 

first-in, first out basis. 
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FIRST COUNT 
(SECURITIES FRAUD) 

 
35. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each allegation set forth in paragraphs 1- 34 of this 

Amended Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

36. Whether or not Defendant knew that the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements were 

materially false and that its unqualified opinion was false when they were first issued in April 

2009, between August 2009 and February 2010, when MSPC learned that the 2008 CSKI 

Financial Statements that it had audited were materially false and that its unqualified opinion 

regarding those statements was materially false, MSPC failed to correct its unqualified opinion 

on the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements despite the fact that there was an active market for CSKI 

stock. MSPC allowed those statements and that opinion to continue to be used and relied upon. 

Despite a duty to take action, MSPC failed to take any action to correct, qualify or withdraw its 

opinion, or to direct CSKI to report that the 2008 CSKI Financial Statements were materially 

false and misleading. MSPC stood by and did nothing, thereby concealing the truth of CSKI’s 

financial condition, which a reasonable investor -- long or short -- would surely want and need to 

know, and on which MSPC knew the market would be relying.  

37. Defendant’s actions and/or inaction were intentional and/or reckless, evidenced by 

the fact that they were specifically informed of the serious problems with the 2008 CSKI 

Financial Statements and yet did nothing. Despite this knowledge, Defendant failed to take any 

necessary and/or appropriate steps, and thereby deliberately and consciously allowed the public 

to continue to be misled about CSKI’s true financial condition. Defendant apparently was 

motivated either by the fact that the magnitude and seriousness of its error(s) would likely 

jeopardize its relationship with a well-paying client, or might jeopardize its professional 

reputation, or for some other reason not yet known by Plaintiff. 
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38. As a direct result of the artificially high value of CSKI Stock resulting from MSPC’s 

failure to correct, Plaintiff has been forced to liquidate some of his short position at a loss to 

satisfy the terms of his agreement with his broker through whom he established a short position 

in CSKI Stock, resulting in a loss in the amount of not less than $88,000.  

39. MSPC’s conduct thus constitutes a direct violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, in that 

Plaintiff has therefore suffered damages as a direct and proximate result of MSPC’s 

misrepresentations and/or omissions. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable as a matter of right. 

CONCLUSION 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment in his favor and against Defendant as follows: 

 A. For compensatory damages in an amount to be established at trial, and for appropriate 

interest thereon; 

 B.  For punitive damages; 

 C.  For costs and disbursements of this action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees; and 

 D. For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

Dated: New York, New York   HUTNER KLARISH LLP 
 May 7, 2010    Attorneys for Plaintiff 

 
 s/Eric S. Hutner  
By: ______________________________ 
 Eric S. Hutner (EH-6836) 

Of Counsel: 
R. Brent Blackstock, Esq. 

Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 12 of 20



Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 13 of 20



Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 14 of 20



Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 15 of 20



Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 16 of 20



Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 17 of 20



Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 18 of 20



Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 19 of 20



Case 2:10-cv-01091-DMC -CCC   Document 5    Filed 05/07/10   Page 20 of 20



HUTNER KLARISH LLP 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
1359 Broadway, Suite 2001 
New York, New York 10018 
(212) 391-9235 / Fax: (212) 981-9122 
Eric S. Hutner, Esq. - EH6836 

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

for the  
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x 
JOHN BIRD,       
       Civil Action No. 2:10-cv-1091 (DMC) 
   Plaintiff, 
vs.        
        
MOORE STEPHENS, P.C.,      
      

Defendant.    
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x    

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on May 7, 2010, I caused the Amended Complaint in the above-

captioned case to be served via ECF upon the following: 

Gregory E. Tomczak, Esq. 
Genova, Burns & Giantomasi 
Attorneys for Defendant 
494 Broad Street 
Newark, NJ 07102-3230 
 
 
       s/Kelly Nash 

                   
                Kelly Nash    
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